
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee

Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Monday, 6 
September 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A on the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22 (Pages 9 - 18)

6. Corporate Register of Partnerships - June 2021 (Pages 19 - 46)

7. CCTV on Housing Estates (Pages 47 - 52)

8. New Rough Sleeping Service Presentation

9. Managing Housing Stock and Climate Change Presentation



10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency 

11.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items  
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

Members

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Monday, 07 June 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Ejaz Aslam 
Dakota Dibben 
Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Bob Lane 
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard

Daniel Killian Director (Housing)
Nicole Arthur Service Manager (Housing Operations)
Jody Bulman Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services)
Lee Morson Housing IT Systems Manager
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (minutes)
1. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Leslie Hoskins and Cllr Lyn Milner. Cllr Bob 
Lane and Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran attended as their substitutes.  

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on Tuesday, 23 March 2021 were signed 
by the Chair.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

4. Chair's Announcements 

The Chair congratulated Daniel Killian for his appointment to Director (Housing) in April 
2021. 

The Chair also congratulated Nicole Arthur and Lee Morson who took up their new posts 
today; their new posts were Service Manager (Housing Operations) and Housing IT Systems 
Manager respectively.  

5. Q4 2020-21 Corporate Performance Report 

The Committee were presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Four 2020-21 
(January to March 2021). 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2021

2

The Director (Housing) guided Members through the document and pulled key statistical 
figures from the Performance Indicators that were listed in full, at appendix two to the report. 

The Chair thanked the Director (Housing) for the positive figures and ask that the 
Committees congratulations be given to the Housing Income Team for winning the Kent 
Housing Group Extraordinary Team Award 2021. 

The Director (Housing) fielded questions from the Committee regarding Housings 
performance and explained that: 

 It was likely that the Council would see an increase in applications for temporary 
accommodation in the short term as there had been an increase, during lockdown, in 
the breakdown of relationships and domestic abuse. However, in the long term the 
need for temporary accommodation should decrease and level off as extra resources 
had been put into the team whose sole work was to help prevent residents from 
losing their homes 

 The Council employed a specialist surveyor who surveyed Council owned properties 
after they became vacant to assess if the property were suitable for certain residents; 
disabled residents disabilities would be taken into consideration when they were 
assigned a property. The Council also enlisted Occupational Therapists from KCC to 
assist in matters with disabled residents 

 The Private Sector Housing Team had been under resourced for too long, so a 
review was conducted to see what the team required to run a more efficient service; 
a proposed Housing restructure was submitted to MT and approved. That 
restructuring was currently underway and would improve the resourcing in the Private 
Sector Housing Team significantly 

In response to a Members concern, the Director (Housing) asked that Cllr Hayre send him 
the details of the case of a disabled resident moving into a property that had no disabled 
facilities; Cllr Hayre advised that Cllr John Caller had been dealing with it. The Director 
(Housing) agreed to copy Cllr Hayre into all correspondence. 

6. Draft Tenant and Leaseholder Decant Policy 

The Committee was informed of the proposed Tenant and Leaseholder Decant Policy and 
their comments were sought comments prior to the policy being agreed by the Cabinet 
Member, Housing Services.

The Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) guided Members through the report and 
gave a detailed overview of the policy; the decant policy covered both temporary and 
permanent decants including tenants and leaseholders and set out what the Council hoped 
to achieve from decant, how the process would be managed, how those affected by a 
decant would be engaged, what support would be provided and what home loss payments 
individuals could expect to receive. The policy took into account relevant legislation and 
guidance to ensure that home loss payments were set at the correct levels and that any 
decants were followed in a lawful process. A full copy of the Decant Policy could be found in 
Appendix 2 to the report.  

The Chair thanked the Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) for her detailed 
overview of the report and appreciated that the Policy was good for the Council to have in 
place. 

Page 4



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2021

3

The Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) and the Director (Housing) fielded 
questions from the Committee and explained that: 

 The policy could be made accessible online on the Councils website for all 
tenants/leaseholders to view whenever they wanted, and the Council would happily 
share the policy directly with a tenant/leaseholder when they requested or were going 
through the decant process. If the Council were aware of an area that was being 
decanted than the residents would be told about the policy through the engagement 
process prior to the decant 

 There weren’t any specific decants scheduled for the near future; the team reviewed 
schemes as they arose and there were a few developments coming forward but 
nothing yet that would require a resident to go through the decant process at present. 
Ward Members would be contacted by the Director (Housing) for an early 
consultation if any decants were planned in their wards 

 Being eligible for assistance and possible rehousing after twelve months living in the 
affected property was the accepted rule as it was beyond an introductory tenancy; 
the Council did not have any obligations to rehouse introductory tenants. However, 
as stipulated at paragraph 16 of the report ‘The Director of Housing, may exercise 
their discretion to depart from this policy due to the exceptional individual 
circumstances of the case.’ 

 All tenants were advised to take out their own home contents insurance and should 
use that insurance in the first instance if there was an emergency decant. If a tenant 
did not have any home contents insurance, then the Council would still provide 
assistance however every decant situation was different and the Council could not 
promise to rehouse the tenants in every case which is why the policy stated ‘may be 
rehoused’ 

 There was not a set time for notice to be given to a property that a decant had been 
scheduled as there was a lot of work leading up to it and it was a slow process. 
However, tenants would be engaged with early on and the Director (Housing) 
confirmed that the Council would aim to inform residents before any planning 
applications were submitted so they would usually be informed 12 – 18 months 
before the decant which was deemed enough time for them to sort themselves out 

 Tenants had the right to appeal and to make a complaint; in the first instance the 
complaint would be received by the Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) 
and an investigation would be conducted. If the resident wasn’t happy with the result, 
then the complaint would be progressed to the Director (Housing) 

 The Director (Housing) added that when the Housing Allocation Scheme was revised 
an Independent Panel was set up to hear appeals; it was likely that appeals for 
decant would also go to an Independent Panel with an independent officer able to 
hear those appeals 

 It would be too difficult to advise what grounds for appeal would possibly be 
successful, but the Director (Housing) agreed to circulate the terms of reference of 
the Independent Panel to Members 

 Residents were expected to give three quotes for each of the items listed at 11.2 in 
the report; some contracts may well cover several of the times in each quote. It may 
have seemed like a lot but following extensive research it was identified that 
requesting three quotes was the norm and it was important that decants were 
balanced and reasonable. A degree of sensibility would be applied to every case as 
all cases were different and some things would need to be catered to an individual’s 

Page 5



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2021

4

needs; it was recognised that ‘Re-direction of mail’ would only receive one quote 
from Royal Mail  

 The Director (Housing) added that there were Liaison Officers that would support 
tenants during a decant and they could assist the tenants with their quotes 

 The policy only outlined how a Council property would be decanted; if the owners of 
a private property refused to move from a property that was to be decanted then a 
notice of cession would have to be sought from a judge 

In response to a Members concern, the Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) 
agreed to make clear in paragraph 12, the distinction between what the Council needed to 
do for Council and privately owned properties when residents refused to move. The Chair 
agreed to the request. 

The Chair thanked Members for their feedback and agreed to consider all feedback prior to 
approval of the Policy as the Portfolio Holder. 

7. Draft Electrical Safety Policy 

The Committee were informed of the proposed Electrical Safety Policy and their comments 
were sought prior to the policy being agreed by the Cabinet Member, Housing Services.

The Service Manager (Housing Operations) gave a brief overview of the report to Members. 

The Electrical Safety Policy detailed how Gravesham Borough Council met the requirements 
for electrical safety under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, the Housing Act 2004 and the 
Electricity at Work Regulations 1989. In addition to that, the policy provided assurance that 
measures were in place to ensure compliance with those regulations and identified, 
managed and/or mitigated risks associated with electrical installations.

In response to Member questions, the Service Manager (Housing Operations) and the 
Director (Housing) explained that: 

 The policy only reflected the responsibility of the Council as the social housing 
landlord; it did not apply to privately owned housing. It was important to keep the 
areas split and made sure that tenants knew what we expected of them and what 
they should expect of the Council 

 There were provisions in place for disruptions cased by electrical work as sometimes 
whole families had to be moved outside properties while the team rewired the house; 
tenants and the Service Managers (Household Landlord Services) team were 
worked with closely during the process. Other aspects had to be taken into 
consideration such as if the resident was a hoarder and the property had to be 
cleaned before any electrical work could be carried out. Residents did not always 
see electrical safety as interesting as getting a new bathroom//kitchen and so 
educating residents was important. The team would also combine the electrical work 
with any other work that needed doing so that it could all be done at once while the 
family was moved out 

 The Director (Housing) added that tenants would be able to count on the support of 
the Tenant Liaison Officers during the process of moving between properties 

 The Council inspected Council owned properties every five years; if an electrician felt 
that the property had damaged electrical outlets or was not maintained properly etc 

Page 6



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2021

5

then they could request an inspection sooner but as a general rule it was every five 
years 

 The Director (Housing) added that the Council were not required to inspect each 
property every five years but the Council took the decision to mirror what was 
required in the private sector in order to lead by example. As such, the electrical 
testing programme was brought in house and the five-year rolling programme was 
implemented 

 When a tenant moved out of a property, the whole property was retested from 
scratch and then the new tenant would be given the electrical safety certificate upon 
moving into the property 

The Chair asked Cllr Pearton to contact the Service Manager (Housing Operations) after the 
meeting so that he could report instances where he had seen Council properties with 
damaged electrics.  

Following concern raised by a Member, the Service Manager (Housing Operations) agreed 
to talk to the Electrical Manager tomorrow to see if there was a requirement to include 
reference to ‘GS38 Health & Safety Equipment’ in section 11 of the report; Approved Testing 
Equipment. 

The Chair thanked Members for their feedback and agreed to consider all feedback prior to 
approval of the Policy as the Portfolio Holder.

8. Demonstration of some functionality within the new Housing 
Management System 

The Housing Services IT Manager provided Members with a presentation and a short video 
which demonstrated some of the functionality within the new Housing Management System 
and gave examples of what a Housing Officer would be able to report at a residents address. 

The presentation was published and could be found through the below link: 

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13874/Housing%20Management%20Syst
em%20Presentation%20Monday%2007-Jun-
2021%2019.30%20Housing%20Services%20Cabinet%20Committe.pdf?T=9

The Chair thanked the Housing Services IT Manager for an informative presentation. 

The Director (Housing) added some context to the demonstration that Members received: 

 In the video the Housing Officer was able to talk to the resident at the property, take 
pictures, record the issues, make notes and send everything back to the Council 
through the Housing Management System app on their business iPhones, all within a 
few minutes. All relevant officers would then be able to access the information that 
was collected before the Housing Officer had even made it back to the office  

 Currently, a Housing Officer would take roughly around two hours to perform the 
same action as they had to visit the property, make notes on their personal 
phones/paper, drive back to the office, upload everything to the system as well as 
distribute the information to the relevant officers. The new system demonstrated how 
fast the new system was and would allow Housing Officers much more time to talk to 
tenants 

Page 7

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13874/Housing%20Management%20System%20Presentation%20Monday%2007-Jun-2021%2019.30%20Housing%20Services%20Cabinet%20Committe.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13874/Housing%20Management%20System%20Presentation%20Monday%2007-Jun-2021%2019.30%20Housing%20Services%20Cabinet%20Committe.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13874/Housing%20Management%20System%20Presentation%20Monday%2007-Jun-2021%2019.30%20Housing%20Services%20Cabinet%20Committe.pdf?T=9


Housing Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2021

6

Members raised several concerns regarding the personal safety of Housing Officers visiting 
properties where aggrieved tenants lived and the actual security of the business iPhones.   

It was explained by officers that: 

 All Housing Officers and any staff working outside alone would soon receive an 
individual lone working device and have to follow a new lone working procedure. The 
device was a small button which could be attached to a name badge and allowed the 
call centre to know where they were and what they were doing. If a staff member felt 
unsafe then they could discreetly press the button and assistance, including Police if 
needed, would be sent to their location 

 Housing Officers generally knew tenants quite well and if there was a known 
aggressive tenant then two Housing Officers would be sent. As part of the new 
Housing Management System, officers could make notes of tenants that were 
aggressive which would be uploaded to the main system and accessed by the whole 
team 

 The business iPhones given to Housing Officers were encrypted by Apple security 
and also had encryption within the Housing Management app itself as it required the 
officer to input a password when logging into the app. Nothing was stored on the 
mobile devices apart from photos which would be deleted after they had been put 
into the system 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:32pm. 

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee

Date: 6 September 2021

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian - Director (Housing)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Housing Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter One 2021-22 (April to June 2021).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Housing Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter One 2021-22, covering the period April to June 2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background paper

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 12



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

H O U S I N G  S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  1  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 13



P I  15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 64

2020-21 135

2021-22

2022-23

1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality

market and affordable housing.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Annual indicator 

Gross number of affordable homes delivered

During Quarter 1 2021/2022 we saw a total of 89 affordable homes completing across several 

sites.

The largest number of completions this quarter took place at Cable Wharf (formerly known as 
Northfleet Embankment East) where Town and Country took handover of 6 homes for 

Affordable Rent and 62 Shared Ownership homes.

A further 4 homes for Affordable Rent and 17 for Shared Ownership were completed at 

Watermans Park (formerly known as Land at Coldharbour) by Orbit and Sage.

A breakdown of affordable homes delivered during Quarter 1 in terms of type and size is 

detailed below:

Affordable Rent

1 x 1 bed flat

5  x 2 bed flat 

4 x 2 bed house 

Shared Ownership

16  x 1 bed flat

55 x 2 bed flat

7 x 2 bed house

1 x 4 bed house

#1 PEOPLE 

0

50

100

150

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 14



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6 1 2 1

2020-21 6 11 3 5

2021-22 3

2022-23

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5 2 2 12

2020-21 2 2 1 4

2021-22 9

2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards, 

empty homes and homes in multiple occupation.

PSH brought 9 properties up to standard although 6 of these were classified as a HMO. During 

this period we had 42 requests for service and closed 34 cases. At the current time we are 

carrying 133 cases. We are continuing to direct our resources into HMO licensing and those 

service requests of an urgent nature.

Also in Q1, the Empty Property team have been successful in returning three properties to use:

6 Lower Range Road, Gravesend 01.04.2021 – A Long term empty of more than ten years and 

incurring the Council tax premium, the Empty Property team have had regular communication with 

the Owner of this property, which was in a poor internal state and in need of major works. The 

team presented the option of the KNUE loan scheme along with structural and practical advise on 

the renovation. The Owner has now returned the property to a habitable standard and has their 

first tenant in situ.

71 Springhead Road, Northfleet 26.04. 2021- The team engaged with Owner and visited property 

on several occasions. The property was in need of both internal and external renovations, of which 

the team were on hand with advice and support throughout. 

5 Hartfield Place, Northfleet 06.05.2021 – The Empty property team first engaged with the Owner 

back in January 2018 when the property was reported as empty. The externals of the property 

were in a good condition and it did not qualify for any enforcement action. The team therefore 

relied on regular contact with the Owner and offered advice to encourage the return to use.  

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 15



P I  18

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 29 23 21 22

2020-21 53 30 22 26

2021-22 22

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 

3. Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality 

tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

The Housing Income Team continue to focus on supporting tenants to maintain rent payments 

during such challenging times for our tenants, ensuring that they work with a multitude of agencies 

to best support our tenants to manage their finances and wherever possible prevent our tenants 

from getting in rent arrears. As a result, our rent arrears figure remains significantly lower than 

other housing providers in the South East.. The team won the ‘Team of the Year’ Award at Kent 

Housing Group’s Extraordinary Awards. It is absolutely fantastic that the teams hard work was 

acknowledged by their peers.

The Sheltered Housing Team continue to provide an excellent service to our older tenants, 

ensuring that the welfare of our tenants remains at the forefront of the services we provide. We 

have started to review our sheltered housing service, which has resulted in a significant reduction 

of paperwork for our Scheme Officers which has enabled them to spend more time on our 

Sheltered Schemes. This is following feedback from our tenants, of whom many stated they would 

like to see their Scheme Officer on site more. We wanted to ensure that we listen to the needs of 

our tenants and are very pleased that we have been able to deliver this from. In addition, the 

Sheltered Team have been working to re-open the communal lounges following the relaxation in 

covid restrictions to ensure that our tenants can again start to utilise these social areas.

The Estate Inspection programme continues to be a success, which Housing Officers out on our 

estates a lot more. Inspections continue to be carried out jointly with other departments within the 

Council and as a result more issues such as anti social behaviour and flytipping continue to be 

addressed and resolved. The number of cases such as anti social behaviour and noise nuisance 

issues have continue to be high as a result of covid, which the team are working really hard to 

address. The team continue to have great relationships with partner agencies such as Social 

Services and the Police to ensure that complex cases are tackled through a multitude of channels 

to get the best resolution for our tenants.

As a result of the success of the Winter Support Fund, the Tenant Engagement Officers have 

secured more funding to help those in most need which they are currently working to deliver to our 

most vulnerable tenants. In addition, they continue to manage the Community Payback Scheme 

providing additional gardening and grounds maintenance support on our estates alongside 

supporting the rehabilitation of offenders. Over the last quarter we also went out to consult with our 

tenants regarding how they felt about ‘tenant engagement’ as we are keen to improve the services 

we provide. This feedback has bene collated and we are in the process of creating a draft tenant 

engagement strategy.

        

0

20

40

60

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 16



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100%

2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 99.5%

2022-23

P I   20

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 103 80 74 74

2020-21 96 99 102 125

2021-22 132

2022-23

Total number of households in temporary accommodation

4. Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions 

that support the most vulnerable.

Disabled Facility Grants

The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible for 

assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care Fund. There has been considerable 

progress made in Qtr 1, with works that was delayed due to Covid-19 in Qtr 4 of previous year.  

Qtr 1 has already seen 38% commitment and spend, which includes delivery of new referrals and 

the completion of the adaptations which had been approved prior to second COVID lockdown.

Homelessness

The demand on the housing options service for those residents who are at risk of homelessness 

has continued during Q1, with a resultant increase in the number of households provided with 

temporary accommodation. In part, this is due to our continued  support to some of the most 

vulnerable single people including rough sleepers by the provision of emergency, nightly paid 

accommodation whilst they engage with our outreach service, access specialist support and plan 

their move into settled accommodation in the private sector.

Housing Allocations

Following the implementation of our revised housing allocations scheme at the beginning of April, 

the team successfully reviewed the priority of all existing applicants in accordance with the new 

criteria within a 2 week window, keeping the length of time that the housing register was closed to 

a minimum. We also established a Housing Allocations Panel of experienced managers and 

officers to deal with requests for a review of decisions made, including the priority awarded to 

applicants, to ensure the new scheme was being implemented fairly and consistently . In Q1 the 

Panel reviewed 146 decisions, of which 22 were overturned, largely on the basis of additional 

information provided during the review process.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

0

50

100

150

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 17



P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100%

2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 100%

2022-23

P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100%

2020-21 99.6% 99.5% 99.8% 100%

2021-22 100%

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard 

and efficiency of local housing.

With the restrictions around Covid-19 beginning to be lifted in quarter 1, there have been a high 

level of major repairs that have needed to be completed as well as an increase in empty properties 

by around 60% which has put extra pressure on an already busy service.

Performance within DSO Building Management has remained consistently high during this quarter 

with emergency repair completions remaining at 100% and non-emergency completions at 88% 

with 99.4% of tenants being satisfied with their repairs.

The length of time it takes for DSO Building Management to bring an empty property up to a let-

able standard is also monitored and due to the high level of empty properties that the service is 

currently dealing with, the Voids team have been working closely with Allocations and Housing 

Management on priority properties.  This has meant that major void turnaround was slightly over 

the target at 32 days, however this approach has had a positive impact on the properties being let 

more quickly.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.
#1 PEOPLE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

P
age 18



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 06 September 2021

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian, Director (Housing)

Subject: Corporate Register of Partnership – June 2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of the council’s involvement 
in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee.

Recommendations:
This paper is for information only purposes.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community.  This was further amplified during the council’s, and the community’s, 
response to the COVID pandemic.

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working 
Arrangements which provides a central record of partnerships in which the council 
is involved. The register is available on the council website and is reviewed and 
updated on an annual basis.

1.3 The register provides a general overview of the partnership, along with details of 
the main aims and objectives of the partnership and how the joint-working 
approach contributes and supports the delivery of council objectives.

2. Housing Services Cabinet Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Housing 
Services Cabinet Committee are as follows:
2.1.1 Energy Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC) (Careline Services)
2.1.2 Housing Associations (Registered Providers)
2.1.3 Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP)

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



2

2.1.4 Kent Home Choice
2.1.5 Kent Housing Group
2.1.6 Kent ‘No Use Empty’ Initiative
2.1.7 Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP)
2.1.8 Rough Sleeping Partnership

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships above is shown at appendix 
two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these partnerships 
and the contribution they make to delivering services to the community.

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Report to Full Council – 22 June 2021 - Working in Partnership Framework – 
June 2021

 Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements – July 
2021 published on the council’s website - Corporate partnerships 
(gravesham.gov.uk)

3.2 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements

Page 20

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  
As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working will potentially contribute to all of the strategic 
objectives of the council.  

Page 21

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Climate Change A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Climate Change commitment (if 
applicable).

Crime and Disorder

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications with this report.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Safeguarding commitment (if 
applicable).

Page 22



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

July 2021

A summary of partnership and shared working 
arrangements 

Housing Portfolio

Appendix TwoPage 23



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve the council’s Corporate objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within the council’s Corporate Plan. 
Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key 
corporate goals would not occur.  This will also include those partnerships that have been established 
to deliver legal or statutory requirements on behalf of the council.”

The council is currently involved in the following partnerships:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership Significant

3 Energy Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC) (Careline Services)

5 Housing Associations (Registered Providers)

7 Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) 

9 Kent Home Choice 

12 Kent Housing Group 

15 Kent ‘No Use Empty’ Initiative

17 Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP) 

19 Rough Sleeping Partnership 

Glossary of Terms (Page 21)
Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 24



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Energy Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC) (Careline Services)

Responsible Officer Dipna Pattni, Housing Partnerships Manager 

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Free and impartial advice to householders on behalf of the Energy 
Saving Trust.  The partnership enables the following aims through 
energy efficiency work:
 Local grant scheme access including renewable energy;
 Government grant schemes;
 Promotion and referrals to Energy Company Obligation;
 Written energy advice for householders;
 Marketing services / Media relations;
 Strategic support to reduce fuel poverty both locally and nationally; 
 Project & partnership development.
Enable vulnerable households to improve the energy efficiency in the 
home to reduce/eliminate fuel poverty and reduce carbon emissions.  

Expected outcomes To reduce fuel poverty as per the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 
(HECA) and reduce carbon emissions. 
To work alongside the Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy and Fuel Poverty 
Strategy for England.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Officer time to assist with aims listed above.

Partnership membership Kent County Council (KCC) and all Kent district councils.

Governance arrangements The governance arrangement as set out in the Business Plan and Housing 
Services Plan. To seek to provide suitable housing to meet the 
vulnerability needs within the borough. This will be through sign posting to 
The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) funded 
organisation.  Advice and help will be provided to all residents when 
looking at energy matters, including fuel poverty, renewable and 
sustainable energy.  

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Reporting in the English Local Authority Statistics on Housing (ELASH, 
MHCLG), Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 (BEIS), Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and local performance 
indicators.  Quarterly and annual reporting.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance reviewed annually with Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership 
and Gravesham Borough Council on own borough wide schemes.

Page 25



Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Risk Assessment Not a statutory duty but is recognised as being best practice by the Energy 
Saving Trust, BEIS and all the Kent Local Authorities including KCC.  Not 
funding risks detriment to National Indicators and Performance Indicators 
related to energy efficiency and additional burden on GBC staff to provide 
advice and guidance.

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership is intended to have a positive impact on the lives of 
vulnerable people by; enable vulnerable households to improve the energy 
efficiency in the home to reduce/eliminate fuel poverty and reduce carbon 
emissions.  

Equalities Obligations This partnership is intended to contribute to the council’s overall Equalities 
aims and objectives, as set out in the Equality Policy (February 2021).  It is 
to improve the lives of vulnerable people by; enable vulnerable households 
to improve the energy efficiency in the home to reduce/eliminate fuel 
poverty and reduce carbon emissions.  

Climate Change 
Considerations

This partnership is intended to demonstrate their commitment to climate 
change and fuel poverty.  It is to improve the lives of vulnerable people by; 
enable vulnerable households to improve the energy efficiency in the 
home to reduce/eliminate fuel poverty and reduce carbon emissions.
The partnership contributes to GBC overall Climate Change ambitions and 
wider across the borough and Kent as a whole.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

September 2009 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 26



Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Housing Associations (Registered Providers) 

Responsible Officer Sharon Donald, Housing Strategy and Development Manager

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Delivery of affordable homes in the borough.

Expected outcomes To achieve the council’s target of 30% affordable housing on all eligible 
sites and to ensure that the mix of affordable homes provided meet 
housing need in terms of type, size and tenure. 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Officer time.
GBC Assets:
 Gravesham BC buildings/meeting rooms are used although not on a 

permanent basis.
 Section 106 funds can also be used by the Housing Associations to 

help deliver affordable housing.

Partnership membership Abbeyfield; Affinity Sutton (now part of the Clarion Group); Amicus Horizon 
(now part of Option); Circle Anglia (now part of the Clarion Group); 
Gravesend Churches Housing Association; Hyde Housing Association; 
London & Quadrant Housing Trust; Moat; Sage; Sanctuary Housing; Town 
& Country Group.

Governance arrangements The partnership was reviewed during 2010 through the North Kent 
Housing Partnership.  Following consultation a North Kent wide protocol 
for working with affordable housing providers was agreed and signed by all 
existing affordable housing providers across North Kent.  A copy of the 
protocol is available at www.gravesham.gov.uk/housingstrategy.  New 
providers who wish to deliver affordable housing in the borough will be 
directed to the criteria set out in the protocol. 
Registered Providers are regulated by Homes England (HE) 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The use of funds collected through S106 Planning obligations are 
monitored through a dedicated database, and at monthly budget meetings 
with the Senior Accountant.  These arrangements were developed 
following an Internal Audit review of Section 106 and Unilateral 
Agreements that took place in August 2009.  A follow up audit took place 
during 2009-2010.
Copies of Annual Reports and Financial Statements are regularly 
provided.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Housing associations provide monthly updates on all new-build 
completions and lettings to the Housing Strategy and Development 
Section.  1-2-1 meetings are held with representatives from partner 
housing associations on a regular basis.

Page 27

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/housingstrategy


Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Risk Assessment Although there is no formal risk assessment undertaken, Homes England 
monitor and regulate all Registered Social Landlords (Housing 
Associations).  Should a partner housing association fail this could affect 
the council’s overall affordable housing target and the ability to meet 
housing need and our duty to house.

Safeguarding Obligations Some of our partners provide housing for vulnerable adults in the borough, 
giving support to this client group. 
Partners providing supported housing are monitored by the DC and HE.
Partners providing supported housing will have their own safeguarding 
policies in place. Should a safeguarding issue be brought to the BC’s 
attention, it would be raised at Director level and contact made with the 
relevant partner. 

Equalities Obligations All homes for Affordable and/or Social Rent delivered by our Housing 
Association (RP) partners are subject to nomination agreements so that 
applicants from the Council’s Housing Register have access to the homes.
All homes are advertised on Kent HomeChoice and all eligible applicants 
are able to bid in line with the Council’s Allocations Policy. 
Where Local Lettings Plans are in place, this is made clear at the point of 
advert with applicants having access to the plan in order to understand the 
rationale. 
Our Housing Association (RP) partners are regulated by Homes England 
with many new homes being part funded by grant.  It has become evident 
that Affordable Rent (at up to 80% of Market Rent) is not always affordable 
for households on lower incomes.
As part of the Affordable Housing Programme 2021-2026, funding will be 
made available for partners to deliver Social Rent which will be more 
affordable for these households.   

Climate Change 
Considerations

New build proposals are required to meet standards set out in local policy 
which include achieving above Building Regulations Part L (Thermal); 
installation of infrastructure for Electrical Vehicle Charging; 2 for 1 tree 
planting, whilst working toward the Future Homes Standard which 
proposes an ambitious uplift in the energy efficiency of new homes 
through changes to Part L.
Our Housing Association (RP) partners are also seeking to deliver new 
homes using Modern Methods of Construction.
The partnership contributes to GBC’s overall Climate Change ambitions 
through the delivery of new, energy efficient homes for both rent and 
affordable home ownership. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

2004 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 28



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP)

Responsible Officer Dipna Pattni, Housing Partnerships Manager

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Co-ordinating a range of initiatives to cut CO2 emissions, reduce fuel 
poverty and support delivery of government environmental targets via 
partnership working through all the Kent local authorities and the Energy 
Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC).
Levy funding for Kent to encourage take up of sustainable energy 
measures and to eliminate fuel poverty.

Expected outcomes To work towards the relevant government performance standards 
including the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 (HECA).
To work alongside the Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy and Fuel Poverty 
Strategy for England.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Officer time to attend and chair bi-monthly meetings and to engage in 
future schemes with other partners.
Manager time to attend training/conference days to acknowledge guidance 
in helping the government reach its targets under the Energy Act 2011 and 
the Climate Change Act 2008.
To help develop policies/strategies for GBC and Kent. 

Partnership membership All local authorities in Kent, including Kent County Council.

Governance arrangements The governance arrangements for the partnership are set out in the group 
constitution. The purpose of the group is to improve the council’s and 
private sector housing stock through energy efficiency measures to deliver 
aims, objectives and targets identified in The Department for Business, 
Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) returns. The constitution sets out:
 Each local authority will have a representative from their local authority 

who will assist in delivering energy initiatives across Kent and their 
local area;

 Regular meetings including workshops to discuss current issues, 
share ‘Best Practice’, review progress of on-going projects and 
circulate case studies where necessary;

 Encouraging working partnerships between local authorities and other 
agencies in the public, private and voluntary sectors;

 Where appropriate, assist with securing funding and services for works 
and projects within the Region;

 Taking forward new local, regional and national initiatives on issues 
relating to the purpose of the partnership; and

 Annual nomination of Chair.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Reporting to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) and The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) and through performance indicators.  

Page 29



Gravesham Borough Council        - 8 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Annual review of partnership Terms of Reference.

Risk Assessment Delivery of energy efficiency initiatives in Gravesham and Kent wide could 
be at risk without a delivery vehicle such as this. 
Not funding risks detriment to National Targets and Performance 
Indicators related to energy efficiency and additional burden on GBC staff 
to provide advice and guidance.

Safeguarding Obligations There is no impact anticipated with this partnership.  

Equalities Obligations This partnership is intended to contribute to the council’s overall Equalities 
aims and objectives, as set out in the Equality Policy (February 2021).  It is 
to improve the lives of vulnerable people by; enable vulnerable households 
to improve the energy efficiency in the home to reduce/eliminate fuel 
poverty and reduce carbon emissions.  

Climate Change 
Considerations

This partnership is intended to demonstrate their commitment to climate 
change and fuel poverty.  It is to improve the lives of vulnerable people by; 
enable vulnerable households to improve the energy efficiency in the 
home to reduce/eliminate fuel poverty and reduce carbon emissions.
The partnership contributes to GBC overall Climate Change ambitions and 
wider across the borough and Kent as a whole.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

1997 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 30



Gravesham Borough Council        - 9 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Kent Home Choice

Responsible Officer Victoria May, Service Manager Housing Options 

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing 

Statutory Status Statutory – The Homelessness Act 2002

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Aim: To allow Gravesham Borough Council to abide to the 2002 Act to 
ensure that our allocation policies provide for choice wherever possible. 
Provide guidance on how the implemented choice based lettings scheme 
works.
Objectives: 
1) To meet the particulars of the “Choice Based Lettings Code of 

Guidance”.
2) Ensure we have introduced an "advertising scheme” (Choice Based 

Letting). 
3) Publish a statement in our allocation scheme about our commitment to 

offering choice to applicants wherever possible.  
4) Provides guidance on how to implement a choice based lettings 

scheme.
5) Ensure we adhere and have the ability to log data relating to the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

Expected outcomes 1) Ensure compliance with statutory obligation.
2) Provide more choice to all applicants on the housing register applying 

for housing with the authority’s area.
3) Ensure “Kent best practice” by working in partnership with other Local 

Authorities and Housing Providers to develop a Kent wide scheme.
4) Delivery of a more open, audited, allocations process to all housing 

applicants.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Financial: An initial financial development contribution of £12,000 was 
paid to the partnership in 2008.  The council makes a contribution of 
£18,000 each year to the Kent Partnership.  This can be increased 
dependent on required enhancements.
Human Resources: Team of three: - one Senior Allocations Officer, two 
Allocation Assistants employed full time to advertise vacancies, assess 
applications for housing, monitor the housing register, and shortlist 
applicants for nominations to housing.
Use of Buildings and resources: The Allocations Team is on the first 
floor of the Civic Centre and has full access to IT systems, the internet and 
telephone systems.

Partnership membership Development Members of Locata. The organisation which owns maintains 
and develops the IT and Software system that allows Kent Home Choice 
to operate as an integrated, standalone computer database in the 
advertising of all properties, and the holding of the details of all applicants 
and histories of bids made on all council premises advertised. Also 
produces the auditing information regarding performance and value for 
money of the Kent Home Choice system. Other members include all other 
Kent Local Authorities, including Medway and Registered Providers 
operating within the county.

Page 31



Gravesham Borough Council        - 10 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Governance arrangements Locata run two independent bodies to manage and organise the Home 
Choice Scheme. The Kent scheme has its own constitution which 
provides:
 A board consisting of all Kent District Council senior officer 

representatives created to oversee and observe the observation by 
Locata of all statutory and best practice requirements of the 
Homelessness Act 2002.

 The Users Group. A combined body of all “development members” of 
Kent Home Choice. Made up of the individual Local Authorities 
running the scheme. The Group looks at, and joint works with 
technical issues such as software upgrades, failures in the IT system, 
the implementation of any additional database reports, or any practical 
failures of the Home Choice system in service provision of the stated 
aims of compliancy with the 2002 Act.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The Allocations Team are required to provide at the middle yearly quarter 
a budgetary forecast for the costs of membership of the system for the 
next financial year. The team’s obligations are to keep the yearly cost at 
the prescribed level, avoid increases above the level of inflation and 
ensure the scheme delivers value for money.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance Monitoring Arrangements:
Locata provide an auditing service which provides regular fortnightly, 
monthly, quarterly and yearly statistics on the performance of the system. 
These reports detail the number of properties advertised, let and the time 
taken to let them. The number of applicants, their personal household 
details, how long on the waiting list and the amount of offers/bids they 
have made. The system also breaks down performance, regionally, by 
authority, by property type, by gender and by age.
Review of Partnership Agreements
Yearly. With a budgetary and Service review of the Locata System being 
carried out. All members are required to agree afresh the terms of the 
Service, costs, provisions and technical requirements of the system. In 
actuality these are likely to be based on any changes in legislation, fit for 
purpose, technical failures and budgetary restraints.

Risk Assessment Kent Home Choice is an independent standalone system run by the 
Locata organisation. As a “bought in” service, it has its own Business 
Continuity Plan. And will run independently of Gravesham Borough 
Council in the event of a major incident. 
Gravesham Borough Council’s Business Continuity Plan covers the 
absence of the Allocations Team in a major incident.

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership is intended to have a positive impact on the lives of 
vulnerable people by; providing more choice to all applicants on the 
housing register applying for housing within the authority’s area.

Equalities Obligations Help everyone to make use of the services to which they are entitled
Give information and advice in the most suitable ways
Monitor and evaluate services to identify whether they are meeting 
people’s needs
There are no negative impacts to in terms of the nine protected 
characteristics and KentHomeChoice have created their own equality 
impact assessment that is available upon request. 

Climate Change 
Considerations

The operational way of working compliments the climate change 
considerations as this function is paperless and compatible to work on 
mobiles, tablets from the home avoiding customers the need to travel to 
locations.

Page 32



Gravesham Borough Council        - 11 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

2007 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 33



Gravesham Borough Council        - 12 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Kent Housing Group

Responsible Officer Victoria May, Service Manager Housing Options

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing 

Statutory Status Statutory – The Housing Act 1985, Local Government and Housing Act 
1989, Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 and The Localism Act.

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Aim: To allow Gravesham Borough Council to abide to the above 
legislation to ensure that our policies provide/promote collaborative 
working, sharing expertise and resource to bring efficiencies to common 
areas of work, that add value to the outcomes, and produces value  for 
money  for members, residents and communities we serve. 
Aim also includes:

1) Provide strategic leadership – shaping and setting the housing 
agenda;

2) To build relationships and influence decisions for the benefit of 
Kent;

3) To draw in resources from both traditional and alternative sources;
4) To work together to improve the supply and quality of affordable 

homes; and
5) To create sustainable communities in Kent.

Objectives: 
1) Share good practice and understanding of the housing market in 

Kent and Medway;
2) Ensure there is a supply of good quality new homes to respond to 

need and existing social/affordable and private rented homes are 
managed to a high standard;

3) To develop shared practice and ways of working to increase 
consistency across the region, to improve access to services and 
standards of service delivered; and

4) To contribute the collective views of the housing sector in Kent 
and Medway to influence Central and Local Government policy 
and regulation to support our communities.

Expected outcomes 1) Ensure compliance with statutory obligation.
2) The continued delivery of key infrastructure to support managed 

growth and housing delivery across the County.
3) The continued regeneration of our disadvantaged neighbourhoods to 

bring them in line with more affluent parts of the County.
4) The provision of choice and affordability in housing for the citizens of 

Kent and Medway, including rural communities, which meets their 
needs and aspirations.

5) The managed improvement and retrofit of existing homes to make 
them fit for now and the future.

6) To support vulnerable people in housing need to fulfil their potential 
and live a high quality life through the provision of excellent housing 
and support services.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

Page 34



Gravesham Borough Council        - 13 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Financial: There will be an annual membership subscription to cover the 
cost of employing the Kent Partnership Manager(s) and/or other activities 
and initiatives agreed by the Group.  The administration of the KHG 
finance will be managed by a KHG member organisation, agreed by the 
group.  The current agreed sum due is £3,500 per member organisation 
per annum, KCC will pay £8,000 per annum.  
Human Resources: Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) 
attends three times a year Kent Housing Group meetings.
 Various sub-officer group meetings to be attended by the Housing 

Needs & Improvement Manager, Housing Partnerships Manager, 
Senior Housing Officer and Senior Environmental Health Officer 
(Private Housing).

Partnership membership The Kent Housing Group (KHG) is a forum for social housing 
organisations in Kent. KHG has representation from all twelve Kent local 
authorities, Medway Council, over sixteen housing associations and Kent 
County Council. KHG also has affiliated representation from the Homes 
and Communities Agency and when required other partner agencies.

Governance arrangements KHG has a Chair and Vice Chair, these two positions are held and rotated 
by a local authority Head of Housing and a Senior Housing representative 
from a Housing Association, the posts are held for period of two years. 
The KHG is also supported by two Partnership Managers, who work with 
the Chair and KHG members to ensure that objectives are set and 
achieved.
The Kent Housing Group also has a number of sub groups and task and 
finish groups, with representation at a number of levels from a number of 
organisations that report back to it every quarter. Each of the sub groups 
has a KHG Executive Board Member as mentor to assist the group with 
work plans and outcome. Each sub group has an elected Chair and Vice 
Chair and an agreed Terms of Reference.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The Kent Housing Group Treasurer will be responsible for the preparation 
of an annual budget to support the work of the group and will report 
quarterly to Executive Board on the financial position. The budget will be 
agreed in January of each year and at the same time a report of the 
previous year’s budget will be made. The Kent Housing Group Budget will 
be monitored by the Executive Board on a quarterly basis.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance Monitoring Arrangements – In addition from time to time 
KHG will set up task and finish groups to undertake specific pieces of work 
identified by KHG and/or the Executive Board to be required to benefit the 
majority of members. These will have a clear brief on the 
outputs/outcomes required and will report to the Executive Board in the 
first instance before wider presentation to KHG.
Review of Partnership Agreements – The Chair of the Kent Housing 
Group will also Chair the KHG Executive Board and will serve a period of 
two years from election.
The Chair will alternate between Local Authority and Housing Association 
representatives. The Vice-Chair role will also be elected every two years 
and will of necessity alternate between the Local Authority and Housing 
Association.
Elections will be held every two years at the full KHG Meeting in January 
with the Vice-Chair standing for Chair.  
All reporting will feedback ultimately to the Kent Forum.

Page 35



Gravesham Borough Council        - 14 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Risk Assessment Given the nature of the KHG there may be times when issues discussed or 
actions undertaken by the Group present a conflict of interest either from a 
personal or organisational (that is the organisation with whom you are 
employed) perspective. 
All members need to be aware of this and where appropriate should 
declare any interests by advising the Chair of the meeting and where 
necessary will withdraw from consideration or decision making on a 
particular item.
No member should have any financial interest in any contract or 
transaction associated with the Group. Where one may exist that member 
should declare an interest and withdraw from the decision making process.
Members are expected to maintain confidentiality of matters discussed by 
the Group, where appropriate or needed, particularly in respect of financial 
matters or any personal disclosures made by colleagues.

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership is intended to have a positive impact on the lives of 
vulnerable people by; supporting those that are in housing need to fulfil 
their potential and live a high quality life through the provision of excellent 
housing and support services.

Equalities Obligations To ensure the council provides services fairly across all community groups
To identify any barriers to service delivery in order for them to be rectified

Climate Change 
Considerations

Kent wide meeting are delivered on a virtual platform avoiding many 
officers around the South East travelling to one location. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

April 2008 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 36



Gravesham Borough Council        - 15 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Kent ‘No Use Empty’ Initiative

Responsible Officer Sharon Donald, New Homes Development and Strategy Manager 
Simon Doherty, Project Surveyor 

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status N/A

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To provide advice and information on empty properties including interest 
free loans to owners of empty properties to bring properties up to a 
saleable/lettable standard.

Expected outcomes  Reducing the number of empty properties in the borough and 
increasing a limited housing resource.

 Funds received from the New Homes Bonus being used for 
community improvements.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

GBC staff resources will be varied dependent upon interest and take up of 
loans.  There is no specific budget implication for Gravesham Borough 
Council.

Partnership membership Kent County Council and Gravesham Borough Council - although a Kent-
wide partnership, the partnership agreement for provision of interest frees 
loans will cover just the Gravesham area. 

Governance arrangements A contract/agreement is in place between Kent County Council and 
Gravesham Borough Council which sets out the responsibilities of each 
authority and liabilities in relation to the No Use Empty Initiative interest 
free loans.  KCC intend to issue loans to applicants referred to them by 
Gravesham Borough Council.  KCC will indemnify Gravesham Borough 
Council against all financial risk associated with the scheme and will place 
a charge on the property via Land Registry prior to the release of any 
loans.
Kent County Council has its own internal procedure, policies and decision 
making process to comply with in terms of the scheme as a whole and 
undertake the necessary checks on the title, local land charges, value of 
the land offered as security and as part of the loan process. 
Eligibility for new members to the Kent Country Council No Use Empty 
Initiative is the responsibility of Kent County Council. 

Page 37



Gravesham Borough Council        - 16 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Loans are provided directly by Kent County Council No Use Empty 
Initiative to help owners of empty properties bring them up to a 
saleable/lettable standard.
Each loan goes through an internal risk assessment process at Kent 
County Council, which includes such things the financial standing of the 
individual or Company, adequate finance including KCC loan to complete 
project, ID checks for money laundering purposes, independent RICs 
valuation to confirm property offered is adequate security for the loan.  
The job is then monitored by GBC and KCC Officers on a regular basis to 
check progress, including on a request for additional payment of funds 
where there is a large loan and is being paid in tranches.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

On-going monitoring of active cases.  Monthly monitoring of incentive 
through Empty Property Working Group.

Risk Assessment Low risk. The initiative has been running for 10+ years with all twelve 
districts across Kent participating.  
The loans are provided by Kent No Use Empty and the partnership 
agreement will indemnify Gravesham against all financial risk that may be 
associated with the initiative.

Safeguarding Obligations The partnership can have a positive impact on owners of empty properties 
who are not able to deal with the property themselves.  This can happen 
for many reasons such as an emotional attachment to the property or 
mental health and/or physical health issues.
Where necessary, members work with other agencies to help vulnerable 
owners find an appropriate path to bringing their property back into use.  
Should a safeguarding issue be brought to the attention of members, it 
would be raised at Director level (Housing).

Equalities Obligations Advice and assistance where applicable is offered to all owners of empty 
properties who engage through the partnership. 

Climate Change 
Considerations

The partnership demonstrates a commitment to Climate Change by 
encouraging and working alongside owners of empty and/or derelict 
properties to aid and assist them in improving their properties by 
increasing  energy efficiency through better insulation and heating systems 
whilst increasing the housing offer in Gravesham. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Cabinet Committee approval 
– 15 September 2011

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 38



Gravesham Borough Council        - 17 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Kent & Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP) 

Responsible Officer Dipna Pattni, Housing Partnerships Manager

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing 

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The KMSEP is an executive level group providing overall direction for the 
establishment of Energy Company Obligation (ECO) and Renewal and 
Sustainable energy for Kent and Medway. 
Its overarching purpose is to work in partnership to:
 ensure residents and businesses get a clear and consistent message 

about what ECO is and the best options available to them;
 tackle fuel poverty by drawing in as much ECO and other funding to 

Kent as possible;
 support our local network of SMEs and take advantage of economic 

growth and opportunities in the sector; and
 Reduce carbon emissions in Kent & Medway. 
The KMSEP will also work with advocacy groups such as Age UK, 
Citizens Advice Bureau, Home Improvement Agencies, Kent Fire & 
Rescue and PCTs in delivering aims from the Government’s Fuel Poverty 
Strategy, also the Kent Climate Change Network.

Expected outcomes To work towards the Government’s targets under the Energy Act 2011 and 
the Climate Change Act 2008. Delivering at local level through the Kent 
Environment Strategy, Kent Energy and Low Emissions Strategy, Kent 
Fuel Poverty Strategy.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 Officer time to attend: Steering Group Meetings; Project Board 
Meetings; GBC Project Delivery Group Meetings and Communications 
Meetings and any future procurement/bids.

 Engage and help deliver energy measures within the borough through 
the partnership working in the domestic sector. 

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council is a partner within the KMSEP.  The 
partnership comprises public, private and voluntary sector bodies including 
representation from all local authorities in Kent and Medway, NHS, water 
companies, housing associations, business networks and communities.

Governance arrangements The Partnership has agreed to work together on projects as detailed in its 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) agreement/Framework Service 
Agreement/Form of Service Contract.
To ensure consistency, the partnership’s structure will mesh with the 
existing governance structures developed to deliver strategies such as the 
Kent Environment Strategy and Kent and Medway Housing Strategy. The 
partnership will therefore include members of the Kent Environment 
Champions Group and Kent Housing Group, ultimately reporting back to 
the Kent Forum. 
A project board is set up to oversee the programme as a whole and enable 
key decision making.  Key decisions will be made through the project 
board with consultation and ratification by the partnership group as a 
whole.

Page 39



Gravesham Borough Council        - 18 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Governance Arrangements
continued

Any communications, minutes and agendas from the board will be 
circulated to all partnership members and comments will be sought prior to 
meetings. Through a transparent communication network, all stakeholders 
will have the opportunity to be involved and will be able to track the 
partnership’s achievements.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Continuously, mini tendering for an ECO Financing Agreement which 
includes financing of ECO measures in homes within the GBC 
administrative area (Relevant Homes) through the Framework Agreement.  
Financial reporting will be worked through the Project Board in partnership 
with the appointed Kent Provider.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Twice yearly review of partnership and its delivery through the Project 
Board meetings.
Annual Steering Group meeting for the whole partnership co-ordination 
and delivery.
Where required extra meetings on important issues that arise.
All reporting will feedback ultimately to the Kent Forum.

Risk Assessment Identify opportunities and drivers, such as relevant targets, new HECA 
requirements, ECO eligible households, business opportunities, skills gaps 
etc.
Without affecting any of its rights or remedies, either party to the Service 
Contract may terminate it with immediate effect by giving written notice to 
the other party.

Safeguarding Obligations There is no impact anticipated with this partnership.

Equalities Obligations This partnership is intended to contribute to the council’s overall Equalities 
aims and objectives, as set out in the Equality Policy (February 2021).  It is 
to improve the lives of vulnerable people by; enable vulnerable households 
to improve the energy efficiency in the home to reduce/eliminate fuel 
poverty and reduce carbon emissions.  

Climate Change 
Considerations

This partnership is intended to demonstrate their commitment to climate 
change and fuel poverty.  It is to improve the lives of vulnerable people by; 
enable vulnerable households to improve the energy efficiency in the 
home to reduce/eliminate fuel poverty and reduce carbon emissions.
The partnership contributes to GBC overall Climate Change ambitions and 
wider across the borough and Kent as a whole.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Start date of Partnership – 
20.07.2012

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

December 2021 
(next annual review)

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 40



Gravesham Borough Council        - 19 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Rough Sleeping Partnership 
(Including:  Sanctuary, Porchlight, CGL, Look Ahead, Serveco, North Kent 
Mind.)

Responsible Officer Victoria May, Service Manager Housing Options

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status Statutory – Not a statutory requirement but contributes to the governments 
ambition to end rough sleeping by 2027 and halve by 2022 and also the 
council’s commitment to safeguard residents.

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Aim: Working together as a multi-agency partnership to provide a holistic 
innovative service for households that are street homeless or at threat of 
rough sleeping.  Find accommodation pathways for these people and offer 
housing led support.  These would be for households who may not meet 
the threshold for statutory assistance for housing by the council. 
Objectives:

1) To ensure that residents in need and willing to engage are 
prevented from sleeping rough on the streets of Gravesham during 
the colder months of the year.

2) To ensure that vulnerable residents are provided with a refuge 
where their needs can be assessed and appropriate signposting 
given to assist in the process of securing permanent / secure 
accommodation. 

3) Address wider issues including mental wellness and substance 
misuse

4) Provide employment and education opportunities and prepare 
them for independent living. 

Expected outcomes Ensuring that rough sleepers in Gravesham willing to engage, are 
provided with meaningful housing options and their health and wellbeing 
issues are addressed by the appropriate agency.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #1 People 
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

GBC purchased the Wrotham Road property that will be used for 
accommodation for rough sleepers.  Day to day maintenance and repairs 
for the facilities is also undertaken by the council at no cost
GBC are recruiting staff including a Rough Sleeping Partnership Manager, 
Resettlement Officer, Welfare Benefits Officer however this is funded 
through MHCLG.  No specific staff funded by GBC however resources 
through the Service Manager as main point of contact.  

Partnership membership Service Manager (Housing Options)
Michael Coveney – Chair of Board of Trustees
Chris Yates – Serveco
Marta Gimenez – North Kent Mind
Rosa Napolitano – Look Ahead
Lisa Gould – CGL
Sue Graham - Porchlight

Governance arrangements Gravesham Sanctuary CIO has a formal governance document that details 
how the charity operates on a day-to-day basis including how residents 
are dealt with and the conduct of volunteers.  This is backed up by formal 
training sessions and background checks on all involved.  
All partners will receive a grant letters which will have conditions and 
where appropriate organisations will have a service level agreement.  

Page 41



Gravesham Borough Council        - 20 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Governance Arrangements
continued

There are regular meetings with various council officers and partners to 
review cases to ensure the safeguarding and the wellbeing of vulnerable 
residents.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

No financial reporting to the council as the money will be a grant however 
any underspend will need to be reported at year end. 
The organisations in the partnership have their own governance 
arrangements and this includes financial reporting on activities.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Gravesham is going to introduce Inform to ensure we can see all agencies 
interventions on one database for each resident.  This will enable us to 
identify risks,  vulnerabilities and actions that have been taken to help the 
resident.  They have formal needs assessments with those residents to try 
and ensure they are engaged with the appropriate partners that can help 
them with housing, wellbeing and work/training opportunities.
Statistics will be able to be produced at any time on request.  Before this 
system is implemented individual partners can provide performance data.

Risk Assessment Gravesham Sanctuary CIO is an independent standalone charity run by 
trustees. 
Look Ahead is 
North Kent Mind
Serveco 
Porchlight
CGL is 

Safeguarding Obligations This partnerships are intended to have a positive impact on the lives of 
vulnerable people by providing a safe place for vulnerable adults to sleep 
overnight during the colder months of the year. Being able to spend the 
nights in the shelter removes them from harsh weather conditions whilst 
also protecting them from being exploited or exposed to other risks that 
sleeping rough would otherwise expose them to. 
The partnership supports the council’s corporate plan commitment to put 
in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that 
support the most vulnerable. 
Should a safeguarding issue be uncovered, Gravesham Sanctuary will 
immediately alert the council or other relevant agencies.  All incidents are 
recorded and reviewed by the pastoral committee which are available to 
the relevant agencies on request.

Equalities Obligations Help everyone to make use of the services to which they are entitled
Give information and advice in the most suitable ways
Monitor and evaluate services to identify whether they are meeting 
people’s needs

Climate Change 
Considerations

Finding vulnerable people housing pathways avoiding rough sleeping in 
the borough, waste and rubbish in the public domain. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

January 2019 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 42



Gravesham Borough Council        - 21 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Annual Report A comprehensive report on an organisations activities over the past year, intended 
to give shareholders and other interested people information about the 
organisation’s activities and financial performance.

BEIS Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy - the UK Government 
department responsible for business, industrial strategy, science, innovation, 
energy, and climate change

Business Continuity 
Plan

A plan that sets out how an organisation will respond and manage business 
disruption in case of unforeseen events.

Business Plan A business plan is a formal statement of a set of business goals, the reasons they 
are believed attainable, and the plan for reaching those goals.

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) - the 
professional body for people in public finance.

Climate Change Act 
2008

The Climate Change Act 2008 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which aims to 
enable the United Kingdom to become a low-carbon economy and gives ministers 
powers to introduce the measures necessary to achieve a range of greenhouse gas 
reduction targets.

Constitution A document which sets out the fundamental rules governing the conduct of the 
partnership.  It may also include details of the concept and structure of the 
partnership.

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives.

ELASH English Local Authority Statistics on Housing -  data collected on an annual basis by 
central Government to monitor the nation housing situation.

Energy Act 2011 The Energy Act 2011 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament setting out three key 
principles: tackling barriers to investment in energy efficiency; enhancing energy 
security; and enabling investment in low carbon energy supplies.

Energy Company 
Obligation

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is a government energy efficiency scheme 
in Great Britain to help reduce carbon emissions and tackle fuel poverty.

Energy Saving Trust The Energy Saving Trust is the UK's leading impartial organisation helping people 
save energy and reduces carbon emissions by providing free, impartial advice and 
information to help people across the UK to find the best ways to save energy 
conserve water and reduce waste.

Fuel Poverty 
Strategy for England

The national strategy, updated in February 2021, designed to ensure that people in 
fuel poverty have access to affordable, low-carbon warmth.  Full Strategy title - 
Sustainable warmth: protecting vulnerable households in England

Page 43



Gravesham Borough Council        - 22 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Term Used Meaning

Home Energy 
Conservation Act 
1995 (HECA)

An Act to make provision for the drawing up of local energy conservation reports in 
relation to residential accommodation, placing a duty on local authorities to complete 
this for council housing stock.

Homelessness Act 
2002

An Act to make further provision about the functions of local housing authorities 
relating to homelessness and the allocation of housing accommodation.

Housing Act 1985 The Housing Act 1985 is a British Act of Parliament. The act introduced laws relating 
to the succession of Council Houses. It also facilitated the transfer of council 
housing to not-for-profit housing associations

Kent Fuel Poverty 
Strategy

The Strategy is aimed to help those vulnerable people in Kent out of fuel poverty 
and into affordable warmth.  Full Strategy title - Delivering Affordable Warmth – A 
Fuel Poverty Strategy for Kent

Kent & Medway 
Energy and Low 
Emissions Strategy

The strategy sets out how Medway Council and the Kent district councils, will 
respond to the UK climate emergency and drive clean, resilient economic recovery 
across the county.

Landlord and Tenant 
Act 1985

The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 (c 70) is a UK Act of Parliament on English land 
law. It sets bare minimum standards in tenants' rights against their landlords.

Localism Act 2011 An Act to make provision about the functions and procedures of local and certain 
other authorities; to enable the recovery of financial sanctions imposed by the Court 
of Justice of the European Union on the United Kingdom from local and public 
authorities; to make provision about local government finance; to make provision 
about town and country planning, the Community Infrastructure Levy and the 
authorisation of nationally significant infrastructure projects; to make provision about 
social and other housing; and for other connected purposes.

Memorandum of 
Understanding/ 
Agreement (MOU) 

A written document describing the roles and responsibilities of two (or more) parties 
on a particular venture.  An MOU is less formal than a contract, but is often signed 
by the parties involved to indicate their agreement to the principles contained in the 
MOU.  A MOU is sometimes a precursor to a formal agreement.

MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s (formerly the Department 
for Communities and Local Government) - the UK Government department 
responsible for setting policy on supporting local government; communities and 
neighbourhoods; regeneration; housing; planning, building and the environment; and 
fire.

New Homes Bonus The “New Homes Bonus” is a Government scheme which is aimed at encouraging 
local authorities to grant planning permissions for the building of new houses, in 
return for additional revenue.

Partnership 
Agreement

An agreement between the relevant partners setting out how the partnership will 
operate and the commitment each will make to the partnership.

Registered Social 
Landlord 

Registered Social Landlords (RSL) are government-funded not-for-profit 
organisations that provide affordable housing. They include housing associations, 
trusts and cooperatives.  They work with local authorities to provide homes for 
people meeting the affordable homes criteria.  As well as developing land and 
building homes, RSLs undertake a landlord function by maintaining properties and 
collecting rent.

Page 44

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Community_Infrastructure_Levy


Gravesham Borough Council        - 23 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Term Used Meaning

Section 106 Section 106 (S106) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a local 
planning authority (LPA) to enter into a legally-binding agreement or planning 
obligation with a landowner in association with the granting of planning permission. 
The obligation is termed a Section 106 Agreement.  They are increasingly used to 
support the provision of services and infrastructure, such as highways, recreational 
facilities, education, health and affordable housing.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within 
the council’s Corporate Plan. Without this effective partnership therefore, the 
delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.  This 
will also include those partnerships that have been established to deliver legal or 
statutory requirements on behalf of the council.

Steering Group A steering group is a group of senior officers/partners who oversee the delivery of a 
project or partnership initiative.

Terms of Reference A document which describes the purpose and structure of a partnership along with 
basis for making future decisions and for confirming or developing a common 
understanding of the scope among stakeholders.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 6 September 2021

Reporting officer: Nicole Arthur, Service Manager (Housing Operations) 

Subject: Provision of closed circuit television (CCTV) system on 
Council managed estates.

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Housing Cabinet Committee on the current provision of closed circuit television 
(CCTV) systems on council managed housing estates and to update them on future plans

Recommendations:
1. For Housing Cabinet Committee to note the contents of the report.  

1. Introduction

1.1 In January 2021, the adoption of an Estate Management Policy was agreed. This 
policy ensures that standards on council managed estates are more focused and 
transparent whilst ensuring that the environment around our properties and 
communal areas are managed effectively.

1.2 In order to meet the objectives of the policy, the council made a commitment to 
three areas; estate would be clean and cared for, safe and secure and in a good 
state of repair.

1.3 In order to achieve these commitments, the ‘Make My Estate Great’ survey was 
launched at the end of March 2021 which sought resident’s views in regards to 
their estate which was based on the key themes outlined in section 2.2 of this 
report.  Responses received to date confirm that individuals responding did not 
feel safe or secure in their property due to a variety of reasons such anti-social 
behaviour, drug-taking, criminal damage and vandalism.  

1.4 A tenant engagement exercise with the residents of Wallis Park in 2019/2020 also 
highlighted similar themes and in particular a need to increase and upgrade to the 
current CCTV provision.

1.5 The use of CCTV cameras on the estates also ensures compliance with the 
Regulatory Framework for Social Housing, specifically:

1.5.1 Registered providers shall keep the neighbourhood and communal areas 
associated with the homes that they own clean and safe.  They shall work 

Page 47 Agenda Item 7



2

in partnership with their tenants and other providers and public bodies 
where it is effective to do so.

1.5.2 Registered providers shall co-operate with relevant partners to help 
promote social, environmental and economic well-being in the areas where 
they own properties.

1.5.3 Registered providers shall work with other agencies to prevent and tackle 
anti-social behaviour in the neighbourhoods where they own homes.

2. Current CCTV Provision

2.1 Gravesham Borough Council operates a number of closed circuit television 
(CCTV) systems on its council managed housing estates within the Borough to 
promote the safety and security of users of its buildings and to protect the asset 
value of those buildings it owns and controls. 

2.2 There are currently 130 CCTV cameras across 10 sites. All units operate and 
record 24 hours / 7 days a week, but they are not actively monitored and data is 
only obtained by request when there is a legitimate reason to do so or requested 
by Kent Police.

2.3 The operation of CCTV cameras on the estates does meet its legal requirements 
in relation to the following legislation or relevant guidance, and good practice 
produced by the Information Commissioners Office:

2.3.1 The Data Protection Act 2018

2.3.2 The Freedom of Information Act 1998

2.3.3 The Human Rights Act 2000

2.3.4 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012

2.3.5 ICO CCTV Code of Practice

2.3.6 Surveillance Camera Code of Practice- in particular the 12 guiding 
principles.

2.4 All of the CCTV units used by the council are ‘overt’ and clearly visible at all times.  
Where the council does have cameras, appropriate signage is in place with a 
regular schedule to ensure the signage is still in situ.

2.5 Since taking on responsibility for the Caretaking Service, the Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) has identified a range of issues which has highlighted a 
number of operational difficulties and shortcomings in relation to CCTV which are 
outlined below:

2.5.1 There has been no investment in the equipment and a number of cameras 
were not fully operational and the quality of the footage was poor on many 
that did work.

2.5.2 There is no maintenance contract in place or inspection regime to identify 
potential faults.

Page 48



3

2.5.3 Any requests for footage from Kent Police results in the Estate Services 
Manager spending hours trawling through and downloading the relevant 
footage.  This has a consequential impact on the service and takes him 
away from essential caretaking duties.

2.5.4 There is a lack of prosecutions due to the individual committing the crime 
being a minor.  The majority of these crimes were linked to vandalism with 
£5,000 of damage on lifts alone in the last 12 months. If the cameras had 
been monitored the act of vandalism may have been stopped at an earlier 
stage.

2.5.5 There has been some extremely serious incidents, such as violent attacks 
on some of the estates which may have had a different outcome if the 
cameras had been monitored.  These generally also happen outside of the 
working day when there was no council presence on site.

3. Next Steps

3.1 In order to deal with the issues outlined in section 2.5 and to meet the 
requirements for the Regulatory framework of Social Housing outlined in 1.6  the 
Council will be entering in to a contract with an external provider, Kindy, to provide 
an ‘observational and retrieval function’ of the CCTV cameras on the housing 
estates.  This will allow operators to view real time footage via a central control 
room with the ability to retrieve any archived footage.

3.2 As part of the agreement this will also include an upgrade of equipment and 
infrastructure as well as on-going maintenance and upkeep.

3.3 By entering in to this agreement, the Council will:

3.3.1 Promote the health, safety and security of residents, staff and other users 
of buildings, communal areas and open spaces where the council has a 
controlling interest (including systems that ensure passenger safety in 
lifts).

3.3.2 Help to maintain the asset value of properties and equipment owned by 
the council by deterring/ preventing vandalism or theft.

3.3.3 Promote early intervention actions that would save further damage to 
persons or properties and in turn reduce repairs/ maintenance spend.

3.3.4 Assist in the prevention of crime, anti-social behaviour, public order 
offences and other statutory enforcement issues and in any subsequent 
apprehension and prosecution of those found to be responsible for these 
actions. 

3.4 The improvement of the provision and monitoring will also help the service meet 
our commitments as a landlord under The Charter for Social Housing Residents- 
Social Housing White Paper by providing a good quality neighbourhood to live in 
as well as listening to and responding to what is important to our tenants.

3.5 The new provision will be widely publicised amongst residents and in the wider 
community, one to act as a deterrent for any potential future incidents but to also 
reinforce to residents that their voice matters and we are listening to their 
requests.

Page 49



4

3.6 Discussions have also been had with Kindy in regards to longer term aspirations 
of introducing a concierge service to some of the buildings, particularly in our high-
rise stock. Many other authorities and Housing Associations have introduced this 
successfully and report that they now spend more time assisting tenants than they 
do monitoring their behaviour.

3.7 The improvement of the CCTV provision will not be a stand-alone project in order 
to combat some of the issues on our estates, this will be complemented by the 
upgrading of lighting, both internally and externally as well as widening the door 
entry systems to restrict unauthorised access to the landing areas of our buildings.

3.8 The CCTV provision will be kept under regular review to ensure it meets the ICO 
CCTV Code of Practice to ensure that the need is justifiable.  

4. Background Papers

4.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 50



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
   

Legal The following legislation and guidance applies to the provision of CCTV:
• The Data Protection Act 2018
• The Freedom of Information Act 1998
• The Human Rights Act 2000
• The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012
• ICO CCTV Code of Practice
• Surveillance Camera Code of Practice- in particular the 12 guiding 
principles.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

 

Risk Assessment       

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
Updated DPIA to follow

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan # 1 People 
Create Stronger Neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, 
detection and reduction of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of 
local residents
Actively Enforce Environmental Standards: use available powers to pursue anyone 
committing environmental crime or damaging the local neighbourhood.

Page 51

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Safeguard Residents: pit in place a package of housing measures and creative 
interventions that support the most vulnerable.
Put Our Customers First: Implement a suite of quality and effective front line service

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder The introduction of a monitored provision is likely to reduce crime and disorder by 
acting as a detterent and potential increased prosecutions.

Digital and website 
implications

The website will be updated to ensure there is clear information regarding the DPIA 
and CCTV provision

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

By reducing crime and disorder on the estates it will help safeguard children and 
vulnerable adults. 

Page 52


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22
	Housing Services - Q1 2021-22 Performance Report - Appendix 2

	6 Corporate Register of Partnerships - June 2021
	2. Appendix 2 - Register of Partnerships - July 2021 - Housing

	7 CCTV on Housing Estates



